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Preface





Turner’s friend and colleague C. R. Leslie remembered him thus:




Turner was short and stout, and had a sturdy, sailor-like walk. There was, in fact, nothing elegant in his appearance. He might be taken for the captain of a river steamboat at a first glance; but a second would find far more in his face than belongs to any ordinary mind. There was that peculiar keenness of expression in his eye that is only seen in men of constant habits of observation.1





Like many keen observers, Turner was not keen on being observed. Friends found it hard to penetrate his domestic existence. Women were sometimes on hand but not introduced. He assumed names that were not his own. Like an animal, he adopted a defensive posture part of the time. He was absorbed by painting, and by making drawing after drawing as raw material for painting; but he also made frequent appearances at the Royal Academy, often to serve dutifully, sometimes – it seemed – to perform flamboyantly. After periods secure in his studio, he emerged to spend days in the country homes of a few good patrons or to go on an afternoon’s excursion with his fellow painters. He was churlish one moment, helpful the next. Some people found him tight-fisted, others extremely (if taciturnly) generous. He was both lonely and gregarious, private and vainglorious. He was a confused speaker, a muddled writer, and an artist – sometimes touchingly precise, sometimes blazingly free – who could with a grunt and a gesture suggest to a colleague what was wrong with his work and how to put it right. His contradictions have puzzled many, but they endear him to me. He was and is a challenge.


Biographers have bounced off Turner. Books about him abound, but the most successful tend to be specialist studies like Cecilia Powell’s Turner in the South and David Hill’s Turner on the Thames. Nevertheless a comprehensive up-to-date biography of Turner has seemed to me worth tackling. I have felt grateful for the labours of Thornbury, Finberg and Lindsay, his main biographers to date, yet I remain greatly dissatisfied by their books. In the last few decades there has been a fine growth of Turner scholarship, visible in the periodicals Turner Studies and Turner Society News, by special exhibitions at the Tate Gallery and in works by, among others, Andrew Wilton, Eric Shanes, Selby Whittingham and John Gage. Gage’s collection of Turner’s correspondence is a tool earlier biographers had to do without.


One feeling prompted by Walter Thornbury’s biography is that he presents much of the material in the wrong place; another is that some of the material has been pirated, and some is untrue. Thornbury’s book was first published in two volumes in 1862 and reissued in a revised second edition in one volume in 1877. (I have relied mostly on the 1877 version, though where necessary I have given references to the first.) Thornbury, a London journalist, recognized Turner as a good story. He had access to many people who had known Turner well, he had Ruskin’s encouragement, and he produced a hodgepodge of a book full of excellent anecdotes and improbable suggestions. It was, as Robert Leslie (son of C. R. Leslie) pointed out, ‘a sort of hashed-up life of Brown, Jones, and Robinson, with badly done bits of Turner floating about in it’.2 A major problem in using Thornbury has been in deciding what is accurate and what is not. I have been considerably helped by access to a copy of the first edition, at the time the property of Professor Francis Haskell, which earlier belonged to Turner’s friend (and executor) George Jones. (This has now been given by Professor Haskell to the Tate Gallery.) Jones collected responses to Thornbury by other friends and colleagues, for example John Pye, Hugh Munro and David Roberts, and inserted some of their remarks at the appropriate places in the work; he also made his own marginal notes. So these denials and dissents and expressions of outrage have been valuable. Where they were missing, I have generally given Thornbury the benefit of the doubt, though remaining aware of his habit of taking a small fact and then elaborating it, the result being three-quarters invention.


The rewards (and the problems) of A. J. Finberg’s heroic chronicle biography of 1939 (revised second edition 1961) are different. For Turner’s painting career, his life as an Academician and the reactions of his contemporaries to his work, Finberg’s book is still first rate, though some of the details can now be quibbled with. However, the laborious chronological method tends to leave the reader groping for the major themes – something Thornbury had intended to express in his own book, as shown by his chapter titles, but had failed to deliver. Moreover, Finberg shied away from Turner as a human being with human appetites, and got some crucial biographical facts wrong. (For an academic work, his book is also very sparse with references and notes.) But, as Lawrence Gowing noted, there were benefits in the disadvantages: ‘Finberg’s inclination was philosophical. For enjoyment he would retire to bed with a volume of Hegel, and he appreciated an intellectual grandeur in Turner that is commonly overlooked.’3


Gratitude and exasperation remain the keynotes of one’s response to the most recent critical biography, now thirty years old, by Jack Lindsay. Lindsay has much of interest to say about Turner’s poetry and Turner’s readings in such poets as James Thomson and Mark Akenside. His reflections on Turner’s inner life are sometimes full of insight and sometimes simplistic, expressed in modish psychoanalytic language. Of other biographies: Bernard Falk’s 1938 Turner the Painter: His Hidden Life combines a tabloid style, a prurient approach and much speculation with some nuggets of private history derived from Turner family documents. Cosmo Monkhouse’s deliberately modest brief life of 1979 distils various sources and both uses and corrects Thornbury; it remains valuable. The great Turner biographer manqué was, of course, John Ruskin. Instead the world got the five volumes of Modern Painters, in which Turner was the inspiration for a massive reverie on art, a splendid if somewhat indigestible soup with well-done bits of Turner floating in it.





I have attempted to look at almost all of Turner’s sketchbooks and many of his watercolours and paintings. I have tried to see at first hand the primary documents to do with his life and those close to him: records of birth, marriage, property ownership and death, in rate books and parish registers and family papers. I have found a few facts that seem hitherto to have gone unnoticed – for example, regarding the date of the death of Turner’s little sister – and have, I think, put together some known, previously disparate facts to shed new light here and there. At one point, when looking into the location of Cowley Hall, the home of a Turner host (and Thornbury informant) Thomas Rose, I became aware that well ahead of me in Turner detective work was Selby Whittingham, and I have been consequently grateful for his researches into the nooks and crannies of the Turner, Marshall and Danby families, and into Turner’s various wills and testaments. My aim has been to produce a work of synthesis, one which pulls together material old and new, which juxtaposes facts in a way that creates a better-rounded portrait of the man. It is a project of collaboration, as it were, with the work of my many predecessors and of contemporary scholars, not trying to repeat everything they have said but winnowing and rearranging the many details to make a truthful and evocative picture. I hope the Turner who emerges is a little more living, at one with the elements but with his feet on the ground.


This is the biography of an artist rather than a work of art history. In writing about Turner’s pictures, I have tried to bear in mind what Turner said in response to Ruskin’s writings: ‘He knows a great deal more about my pictures than I do. He puts things into my head, and points out meanings in them I never intended.’4 And there are other voices one should listen to. Among them are those of Claude Debussy, who called Turner ‘the finest creator of mystery in the whole of art’,5 and Walter Sickert, who hailed Turner’s ‘inexhaustible toughness’.6





I am indebted for much advice, help and encouragement. Among the many people I am grateful to are Fred Bachrach, Margot Bailey, David Bromwich, David Blaney Brown, Bernard Carter, Ann Chumbley, William Clarke, Lord Egremont, Gillian Forrester, Carolyn Hammond, Francis Haskell, Luke Herrmann, Nicholas Horton-Fawkes, Ralph Hyde, Samuel Hynes, Peter James, Evelyn Joll, Anne Lyles, Alison McCann, Pieter van der Merwe, Cecilia Powell, Judith Severne, Rosalind Turner, Ian Warrell, Selby Whittingham, Edward Yardley and Robert Yardley.


I have been assisted by the staffs of the archives and local history libraries at Canterbury, Chiswick, Margate, Chichester (West Sussex), Camden and Westminster (Victoria and Marylebone branches), the staffs of the London Library, Cambridge University Library, Guildhall and St Paul’s Cathedral Libraries and the Study Room of the Turner Collection at the Clore Gallery. And I thank the Masters and Fellows of Magdalene College, Cambridge, for their hospitality.


Illustrations for a book about an artist – especially one as prolific as Turner – pose a dilemma if the book is to be affordable. There are many books in print – for instance, Andrew Wilton’s Turner in his Time – that provide fine coverage of Turner’s work. I have tried to furnish here pictures that have a biographical relevance.








Author’s Note for the 2013 edition





I am delighted that Tate Publishing is bringing out this new edition of Standing in the Sun, especially as Tate Britain is the home of the Turner Bequest, and houses the world’s largest collection of Turner’s work. The text has been freshly typeset but is otherwise unchanged from the 1997 edition except for a very few minor corrections. As before, illustrations have been selected for their biographical interest. However, for readers wishing to look at the artworks referred to, images of all the Turner paintings, watercolours and sketches in the Tate collection, along with many others in museums around the world, can be found on the ‘Turner’ pages of the Tate website (see www.tate.org.uk).




Notes
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3 Gowing, introduction to Finberg, Turner’s Sketches and Drawings, p.xxi.
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5 Letter to Jacques Durand, March 1908, Debussy, Letters.


6 Sickert, A Free House!, p.200.
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	1775

	 

	Baptised 14 May, St Paul’s, Covent Garden. Parents living at  21 Maiden Lane






	1783

	    

	Death of his sister Mary Ann






	1785

	 

	To schools in Brentford and Margate






	1787

	 

	First signed and dated drawings






	1789

	 

	Admitted to RA Schools






	1790

	 

	First watercolour exhibited at RA






	1791

	 

	Travels in West Country






	1792

	 

	Travels in West Country and Wales






	1794

	 

	Working at Dr Monro’s






	1796

	 

	First oil exhibited at RA






	1797

	 

	Tour of North of England
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	Sarah Danby becomes his mistress
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	Elected ARA. Moves from Maiden Lane to 64 Harley St






	1800

	 

	His mother admitted to Bedlam






	1801

	 

	19 Sept. Baptism of his daughter Evelina






	1802

	 

	Elected RA. Visit to France and Switzerland






	1804

	 

	Death of his mother. Opens his own gallery






	1805–6

	 

	On the Thames at Isleworth






	1806–11

	 

	On the Thames at Hammersmith






	1807

	 

	Publication of Liber Studiorum part 1. Elected Professor of Perspective, RA






	1808–24

	 

	Many visits to Walter Fawkes and family at Farnley Hall, near Leeds, Yorkshire






	1811

	 

	First professorial lectures. Birth of his daughter Georgiana






	1877 & 1813

	 

	Tours of the West Country






	1813

	 

	Twickenham House finished






	1815–16

	 

	Trips to North of England 






	1817

	 

	Trip to Belgium, Rhineland and Holland. Evelina married






	1819

	 

	First visit to Italy. Fawkes’s collection exhibited in London






	1820–21

	 

	At work on his new house and gallery in Queen Anne St






	1821

	 

	Trip to France






	1824

	 

	First journey to the Meuse and Mosel. Tours of eastern and southeastern England






	1825

	 

	Trip to Holland. Death of Walter Fawkes






	1825–37

	 

	Many visits to Petworth House, Sussex






	1828

	 

	Last perspective lectures at RA






	1828–29

	 

	Second visit to Italy






	1829

	 

	Death of his father






	1829 & 1832

	 

	Tours for ‘Rivers of France’ project






	1830

	 

	Tour of English Midlands






	1831

	 

	Trip to Scotland






	1833

	 

	European journey, to and from Venice






	1834

	 

	Sees Houses of Parliament on fire






	1830s

	 

	Frequently in Margate with Mrs Booth






	1837

	 

	Death of Lord Egremont. Turner resigns as Professor of Perspective






	1839

	 

	
The Fighting Temeraire. Second Meuse and Mosel tour






	1840

	 

	Meets John Ruskin. Trip to Venice






	1841–44

	 

	Annual trips to Switzerland






	1843

	 

	Death of Georgiana






	1845

	 

	Last trip abroad, to northern France. Acting President of RA






	1845–50

	 

	Continues to visit Kent coast






	1846
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	1850

	 

	Last exhibits at RA






	1951

	 

	19 December: death in Chelsea
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1: Mere Beginnings





From high above, the river winding through the city looked like a shining snake sliding under three bridges. The spring sun struck the tiles and slates of a hundred thousand damp rooftops and shimmered on the lead of spires, steeples, domes and belfries. Pigeons and seagulls circled in the hazy air, and a few spiralled down towards a large rectangular space among the buildings crowded on the north side of the river – a paved piazza where market stalls and barrows stood empty. Because it was Sunday, the only clamour came from the bells pealing in the broad-roofed church that stood at the west side of the Piazza: St Paul’s, Covent Garden, London. On the path leading through the churchyard, a man and a woman carrying a well-swaddled baby walked towards the main door.





Sometimes, talking in later days about his origins, Turner bemused people by claiming that he was born in the country rather than the city. During a tour of the west of England in the 1810s, he went sailing on the St German’s river with the journalist Cyrus Redding, and the names of various West Country artists were bandied about. Turner told Redding: ‘You may add my name to the list. I am a Devonshire man.’ And when Redding asked from what part of that county, Turner replied, ‘From Barnstaple.’1 Others heard him say that he hailed from Kent; one man to whom he made this claim believed that Turner did so simply out of fondness for the Medway valley. Some years on, his affection for Kent’s Thanet coast, and particularly for Deal and Margate, was strongly expressed. Then, too, in later life he enjoyed mystifying the curious about his age. Andrew Wilson, a Scots painter, got the impression from Turner that, like Wilson himself, he was born in 1869, the year when Napoleon and the Duke of Wellington had been born. Causing confusion seemed to amuse Turner. It is perhaps not surprising that when he died in December 1851 his executors let him be buried in a coffin inscribed ‘Aged 79’, though he was most probably seventy-six. His death certificate gave his age as eighty-one, which would put his birth in 1770.


Turner’s age remains slightly uncertain because when he was christened in St Paul’s, Covent Garden, on that morning of 14 May 1775, the current practice in that parish was not to write a birthdate in the register. We depend on Turner himself, twenty-one years later, to affirm that the year was indeed 1775. In 1796 he exhibited a watercolour he had done of the interior of Westminster Abbey and used a floor-paving tombstone to flaunt his own name: ‘William Turner, Natus 1775’.2 In a codicil he signed on 20 August 1832 to a will made the year before, he gave the residue of his investments in Government Funds to the Royal Academy, subject to it holding a dinner for its members ‘every year on the 23rd of April (my birthday)’.3 So destiny – or the artist – chose the day which was Shakespeare’s birthday and – for complete patriotic identification – St George’s Day, the holy day of the patron saint of England.


In Inigo Jones’s great barn of a church in Covent Garden on 14 May 1775 the presumably still infant boy was held over the font and christened Joseph Mallord William Turner by the Rector, James Tattersall. However, when it came to entering the child’s three Christian names in the baptism register, the Reverend Tattersall wrote – misspelling the unusual second name – ‘Joseph Mallad William, son of William Turner by Mary his wife’.4 The future artist’s difficulties with spelling and syntax seem to have a precursor here. But no other child in the register for that year had the honour of three Christian names. Although they were names common in his mother’s family, it was as if his parents were declaring, rather than merely hoping as parents will, ‘Our child is going to be somebody.’


It was in this same 140-year-old church that William Turner, bachelor aged twenty-eight, and Mary Marshall, spinster aged thirty-four, had been married twenty-one months before. The celebrant at the ceremony on 29 August 1773 was the curate, Ezekiel Rance; their witnesses were Ellis and Martha Price. Both parties to the marriage claimed to be ‘of this parish’, and had been living in it for at least four weeks. William Turner was indeed a Devon man – which may have inspired his son to claim the same tie. William Turner’s father had been a saddler in the Devon village of South Molton, ten miles from the coastal town of Barnstaple, and William was born in South Molton on 29 June 1745. He was twenty when his father died and left him, the second son, his best white dress coat and – like his six siblings – the sum of one guinea when he reached the age of twenty-one. William’s brother John, also a saddler, achieved the locally influential position of governor of the Barnstaple workhouse; another brother, Jonathan, was a baker. William became a barber and perruquier or wig-dresser, and at some point made his way to the metropolis, where he met and wooed Mary Marshall. He was described by one who knew him as a shortish man with ‘small blue eyes, parrot nose, projecting chin, and a fresh complexion’. He ‘talked fast … [with] a peculiar transatlantic twang … and a smile was always on his countenance’.5


Six years older than her West Country lover, Mary Marshall had perhaps reached an age when she could no longer wait for a better match. There is a suggestion that, although she too came from a background of artisans and small tradesmen, the Marshalls had grander ideas of themselves than the Turners. Her father, also a William, was a ‘salesman’ of Islington, a village then just north of the city of London. One brother, Joseph Mallord William Marshall, became a butcher in Brentford, a village eight miles west of Maiden Lane. (Mallord was the surname of her maternal grandfather, an Islington butcher.) An elder sister of Mary’s married a curate, the Reverend Henry Harpur, which indicates that the family had some social ambitions.6


For the time being Covent Garden was the centre of young William’s world. The hairdresser and his wife set up home at 21 Maiden Lane, a narrow three-storey brick house in a tight little street not far from the Piazza. William Turner senior’s name first appears in the Poor Rate Collector’s Books of St Paul’s parish for the period from Lady Day (25 March) 1774 to Lady Day 1775. It appears again in the following year, 1775–6, with the rateable value, based on annual rent, of £30, and rates of £2. But then ‘William Turner’ disappears from the St Paul’s books, not to reappear for twenty years, and then in relation to 26 Maiden Lane, a property more or less opposite, on the north side of the street. However, it seems likely that unless the family moved to Devon for a while after 1776, partly validating the artist’s later claim, they went on living in the Covent Garden neighbourhood; the barber may have been a tenant or subtenant rather than leaseholder, and his landlord paid the rates. (In the rate books, some entries record ‘Paid for tenants’ without mentioning the tenants’ names.) The Turners may well have been at number 21, and then number 26, as other evidence will imply, for longer than the rate books indicate.


Covent Garden was no longer the district of high fashion it had been 140 years before. The porticoed buildings of the Piazza, designed by Inigo Jones for his patron the Earl of Bedford, were intended to attract ‘persons of great distinction’, and three earls were among the first residents. In the thirteenth century the monks of Westminster Abbey had an orchard here, the convent garden. In the seventeenth century the area was gradually developed and the fields around St Martin’s church built over. An informal market flourished for a time before the Earl of Bedford received a royal charter in 1671 to hold one. By the latter part of the eighteenth century it was ‘the greatest market in England for herbs, fruits, and flowers’.7 Carts and wagons poured in from the countryside in the small hours and unloaded at the sheds and stalls in the Piazza. By dawn light it was a boisterous scene, with the dealers crying their wares. By 7 a.m., most of the fruit and vegetables had been sold, though much litter remained.


The market had an impact on the social tone, for the neighbourhood changed. The elegant people moved west, and tradesmen, lodging-house keepers and artists moved in. Among the artists who lived in or near the Piazza were John Hoskins, the Fleming Remigius van Leemput, Samuel Cooper, Francis Clein, Sir Peter Lely, Sir Godfrey Kneller, Sir James Thornhill, his son-in-law William Hogarth, Samuel Scott and Richard Wilson. Covent Garden’s raffish reputation grew with the opening of theatres, gaming houses and low taverns evocatively called ‘night-cellars’. These caused an influx of ‘notorious characters’, so the local tradesmen said. They appealed to Westminster Sessions in 1730 about ‘frequent outcries in the night, fighting, robberies, and all sorts of debaucheries … all night long’.8 Sir John Fielding, who succeeded his novelist half-brother Henry as Bow Street magistrate in 1780, complained of all the ‘brothels and irregular houses’ in the area. Although, thanks to high corn prices, the worst of the cheap gin drinking age was past, Sir John thought enforcement of licensing laws too lax, and he condemned those, selling spirits from chandlers’ shops, ‘who are permitted to vend … this liquid fire by which men drink their hell beforehand’.9


The increasing number of dubious lodging houses and ‘bagnios’ added to Covent Garden’s notoriety. At some bagnios a customer could obtain a room and a meal and use the ‘sweating and bathing facilities’; at some he could get more. One writer in 1776 pro claimed Covent Garden ‘the great square of Venus, and its purlieus are crowded with the votaries of this goddess … The jelly-houses are now become the resort of abandoned rakes and shameless prostitutes. These and the taverns afford an ample supply of provisions for the flesh; while others abound for the consummation of the desires which are thus excited.’10


Crime, of course, was a by-product of these conditions: Exeter Street, Change Court, Eagle Court and Little Catherine Street were ‘infamous’, according to Sir John. Some alleys and rookeries off Long Acre and St Martin’s Lane were particularly dangerous for pedestrians, but James Boswell had his handkerchief picked out of his pocket while walking down the Strand, the broad former riverfront street that bounded Covent Garden to the south. In the Strand was the Spread Eagle, a hostelry much favoured by young men after the theatre, whose landlord once remarked that ‘his was a very uncommon set of customers, for what with hangings, drownings, and sudden deaths, he had a change every six months’.11 However, towards the end of the century night-crime was reduced by the new oil-burning parish lamps, set up in all Westminster streets.


Although Turner grew up in what would now be called a red-light district, plenty of ordinary life and business went on. Many inns and chop-houses served respectable clients. The Turk’s Head, where the Reverend James Woodforde (in town from his Norfolk parish) supped and slept, stood in the Strand opposite Catherine Street, just to the west of Somerset House, and ‘was kept by one Mrs Smith, a widow, and a good motherly kind of woman’.12 Printsellers and bookdealers favoured this part of town. Tom Davies kept a bookshop at 8 Russell Street, where on 16 May 1763 Boswell first met Dr Samuel Johnson. John Raphael Smith, engraver, miniature-painter and printdealer, was in King Street. Among the district’s merchants were several jewellers and publishers. A number of perruquiers, making or refurbishing wigs, worked in Henrietta and Tavistock Streets. Apart from William Turner in Maiden Lane, a John Turner (no relation) had a hair dressing business in nearby Exeter Street. The rate books reveal the presence of several other Turners in the area.


Maiden Lane, the scene of Turner’s infancy and of part at least of his childhood and youth, was lined with mostly three-storey houses with cellars beneath. The street was formed from an old pathway through the convent garden, and in winter its narrowness made it hard for the sun to penetrate to the lower floors. When first laid out in 1631, the Lane was a cul-de-sac at its east end, but a foot passage through to Southampton Street was created in the mid-eighteenth century, and this was widened to the width of the rest of the Lane a hundred years later. Like most streets in the neighbourhood it had artistic associations. Andrew Marvell had lodged there in 1677 and Voltaire in 1727–8, the latter at the White Peruke, a lodging house kept by an old French barber and wig maker. John Ireland, watchmaker and biographer of Hogarth, lived in Maiden Lane from 1769 to 1780. Judging by rateable values it was a middling sort of street, though one Maiden Lane ratepayer was excused having to pay the rates in 1784, ‘being very poor’.


At the time of Turner’s birth, number 21 had recently been separated from the larger premises of number 20 next door. At number 20 was an auction room that had been used by the Free Society of Artists for their annual exhibitions in 1765 and 1766, and from 1769 to 1773 by the Incorporated Society of Artists for an academy of painting, drawing and modelling. Artists who attended classes here included George Romney, Francis Wheatley, Henry Walton, Ozias Humphrey, and Joseph Farington, who was to have a part in Turner’s story. In the basement beneath this room was a tavern called the Cider Cellar. Here theatregoers could drink and listen to music and singing before or after the play, while rubbing shoulders with such habitués as the silversmith J. Brasbridge, who liked going there to talk politics, and the classics don Richard Porson. Porson, the son of a Norfolk weaver, became professor of Greek at Cambridge but continued to live in London at the Temple and spend his often dishevelled nights in Covent Garden.





How much noise from the likes of Porson and company came through the party wall from the Cider Cellar, we can only guess. The Turners probably had their eating quarters in their own cellar, under the barber shop, and rooms for sleeping above. Here, or across the road at number 26, a small boy would have shuttled mostly between the two main theatres of below-stairs and ground floor: the kitchen fire and table, tended by his mother, and the barber’s chair, served by his father. To us the trade of hairdresser may seem humble enough, but to a small child it would have been fascinating: jugs of hot water brought up from the kitchen range, soapsuds and froth and steam, the swish of the straight-edged razor being stropped on leather and the gleam of the blade, the strong smell of ungents, bay rum, cologne. And then there was all the paraphernalia of hot tongs, curling papers, braiding pins and crimping irons for the dressing of wigs, and the clouds of white powder.


The wigs were splendidly various: the old perukes and periwigs, the large bushy Busbys, Club-wigs, Story wigs with their five rows of curls, and Brown Georges favoured by the King. According to Walter Thornbury,




A city gentleman or actor, about 1775, had three wigs; two being for ordinary wear, and of these one nicely powdered was brought by the barber every morning, when he came to shave the master of the family; and the third being a Sunday wig, which was taken away on the Friday and brought back on the Saturday. At spare times the barber would sit at his shop door, surrounded by his friends, while he wove flaxen curls on a dummy … The scorching of wigs was ceaseless; the clash of tongs was continuous …13





A day-to-day wig cost a guinea, but some wigs were so expensive they were worth stealing; ne’er-do-wells snatched them, even in daylight, from their wearers’ heads.


But then fashions changed. William Turner no doubt heard from his West Country relatives that, deep in the shires, gentlemen were beginning to show their own hair, though parsons, lawyers, doctors, and even actors might still be bucking the trend. Fortunately, as wigs departed, the shaving business continued to flourish. Few gentlemen then shaved themselves. Men with beards were either Jews or Turks, or possibly eccentrics like Lord Rokeby; and it was only soldiers, returning from overseas, who wore a moustache.


William Turner seems to have had a fair business. Customers came to the shop or were visited at their nearby homes and in the local hostelries in Southampton Street and the Strand. His name does not appear in the registers of the Barbers and Surgeons Guild, in which young hairdressers were apprenticed; but perhaps he served his time and acquired his skills in less formal Devon circumstances. William Turner’s thrifty nature gave rise to a story that he once pursued a customer down Maiden Lane to recover a halfpenny that he had omitted to charge for soap. One skill a successful hairdresser needed was that of keeping his customers amused, with a copy of the Daily Advertiser for those waiting and conversation that genially rattled on about the topics of the day.


When he was three and a half, young William acquired a sister. She was baptized at the parish church of St Paul’s on 6 September 1778: ‘Mary Ann, Daughter of William Turner by Mary his wife’.14 By late-eighteenth and early-nineteenth-century standards, William and Mary Turner were unprolific. Many families at this time had a dozen children, not all of whom would have lived. The Turners may have had other children who were stillborn or died in infancy, but no record of them has been found. We know that Mary Ann did not quite reach her fifth birthday; once again St Paul’s harboured the ceremony, which this time was tearful, with grieving parents and a perhaps bewildered eight-year-old boy. The burial is recorded on 8 August 1783: ‘Mary Ann, daughter of William Turner’.15


Mary Turner was now forty-four. The effect of her little daughter’s death must have been a great blow, even in a time when child mortality was high. Her temperament was anyway, it seems, never stable. Henry Syer Trimmer, eldest son of the Reverend Henry Scott Trimmer, Turner’s good friend, later saw an unfinished portrait Turner had done of his mother, a picture – according to young Trimmer’s reporter, Thornbury – which was




one of his first attempts … There was a strong likeness to Turner about the nose and eyes; her eyes being represented as blue, of a lighter hue than her son’s; her nose aquiline, and the nether lip having a slight fall. Her hair was well frizzed – for which she might have been indebted to her husband’s professional skill – and it was surmounted by a cap with large flappers. Her posture … was erect, and her aspect masculine, not to say fierce; and this impression of her character was confirmed by report, which proclaimed her to have been a person of ungovernable temper, and to have led her husband a sad life.16





The boy, now the sole surviving child, took refuge in his own amusements: drawing was one such, early noticed. It was recalled that ‘he first showed his talent by drawing with his finger in milk spilt on a teatray’.17 Another story concerned a professional call the barber made on Mr Humphrey Tomkison, a jeweller and silversmith who lived a few houses away along Maiden Lane. The jeweller’s son Thomas used to claim that his father was the first to discover the boy Turner’s abilities. Thomas Tomkison told a friend in 1850: ‘On one occasion Turner [senior] brought his child with him; and while the father was dressing my father, the little boy was occupied in copying something he saw on the table.’ On being shown the drawing, Mr Tomkison refused at first to believe the boy had done it by himself. It was a precise rendering of a coat of arms engraved on a silver tray.18 From early on, young Turner seems to have had a stump of pencil or piece of chalk always in hand, and would lie on the floor or sit at a table copying pictures, engravings and advertisements in newspapers and handbills.


When he was old enough to leave the house on his own, it was to enter a world that extended further and further away from the barber shop. Down Thatch’d House Alley or Bailey’s Alley, long dark slits between the houses, to the Strand. Up Bedford Street and into the railed churchyard that led to the door of St Paul’s. Within the church, the huge white ceiling and a golden sun over the altar. Up Southampton Street or along Henrietta Street to the Piazza and the market, where, just after breakfast, the last costermongers were dragging away their laden barrows, or encouraging the donkeys that drew their carts, as they set off to the streets of customers awaiting the day’s fruit and vegetables. Empty sieves and sacks and hampers and baskets were being piled up, and streetsweepers were clearing the litter of purply-green cabbage leaves, bits of white-yellow turnip or pale-orange carrot, fragments of red apples and crushed brown chestnuts, shreds of lettuce and sprout tops and onion skins, and discarded paper jackets that had been wrapped around lemons. Maybe even an orange to be rescued from a gutter. He might drift by the caged linnets and larks being sold for a penny on either side of the east end of the church, and then wander through the flowers and flowerpots under the colonnade, where tired porters were perched on their baskets, drinking coffee from a stall. The shoeless flowergirls sat on the steps of the Covent Garden Theatre, tying up their bunches, while others clustered around the pump, chattering and elbowing one another as they watered their wilting violets.


He was small for his age, and, it would seem, something of a loner. Nevertheless he was a Covent Garden native who felt secure exploring his own part of the city. Not far away, in King Street off the north-west corner of the Piazza, was the ‘Spectacle Mecanique’. Payment of a small coin allowed you to look at the wonderful Swiss contrivances: a life-size mannikin of a boy, which appeared to write to dictation; a figure which drew landscapes; a mechanical girl who played a harpsichord; and a metal canary in a cage that hopped up and down and whistled a tune. In the market during the day mountebanks performed and, despite the by-laws, wild beasts were now and then exhibited.


One day Turner’s territory expanded: he crossed the Strand for the first time, a broad thoroughfare filled with clattering hackney coaches and private carriages. He made his way down through the tight streets and alleys to the river. In front of the tall fancy houses of the new Adelphi a stone quay had been built for barges and lighters to land and embark cargoes. But in many places the old foreshore was unimproved, with stretches of beach, rotting wharves and the remains of pilings. At low tide you could clamber down on to the shingle and strongly smelling mud and find treasures among the detritus: white clay pipes, a ship’s block, lumps of coal. Boatmen with skiffs and wherries plied for hire from the steps called ‘stairs’-Salisbury Stairs and York Buildings Stairs were the nearest. The boatmen waved and shouted to anyone who looked as if they wanted to be rowed on the river. Not far away, at Hungerford, there were wharves where you could watch coal, timber, stone and marble being landed. With the tide, lighters and barges – sails down and steered by long sweeps – shot beneath the three bridges (Westminster, Blackfriars and London). The Thames surged by, thick rippling water, with the occasional herring barrel or tree stump swirling past. Down east, he learned, was the Pool, Wapping, Greenwich, Gravesend and the sea. Up west, inland, was Lambeth, Vauxhall, Chelsea, England.


At the age of ten he went that way, west to Brentford on the Thames, to stay with his butcher uncle Joseph Marshall. The reason for the journey is obscure; it may have been ‘a fit of illness’ arising from ‘a want of air’19 – a hearsay explanation suggesting bronchitis or asthma brought on by life in a city where 900,000 people used coal fires to try to keep warm in winter. It may have been that his parents feared that their only child would follow Mary Ann into the grave unless they got him out of the gritty urban atmosphere. Or the departure for Brentford may have come about because of the domestic difficulties, springing from his mother’s ‘ungovernable temper’, that appear gradually to have shattered the Turner household. Whatever the reason, young William was taken in by the Marshalls and sent to school.


Until this moment, education doesn’t seem to have been to the fore. How much reading and writing he learnt at home is uncertain. But in Brentford in 1785 Turner went to John White’s school. This establishment had some sixty pupils – fifty boys and ten girls – and stood in Brentford High Street opposite an inn called The Three Pigeons; it was a few minutes’ walk from the market place, where the butcher and his wife lived next door to another inn, The White Horse. Also living in Brentford were Mr and Mrs James Trimmer and their expanding family. Mrs Trimmer had been Sarah Kirby, from Suffolk, daughter of a friend of the artist Thomas Gainsborough, and as well as bringing twelve children into the world she wrote books, did good works and in particular promoted Sunday schools: the Brentford Sunday school was founded in 1786 at her urging. Many of those who supported her Brentford Sunday school were dissenters, but her own son Henry Scott Trimmer was eventually ordained in the Church of England.


It may have been at the Brentford Sunday school or at John White’s academy that young William Turner first met Henry Scott Trimmer, who was a few years younger but was to become a close friend.20 It may have been in the Trimmer household, where Gainsborough was a cherished name, that Turner first realized that artists could be greatly honoured. Henry Scott Trimmer’s eldest son passed on his father’s story that Turner, on the daily plod between home and school, amused himself ‘by sportively drawing with a piece of chalk figures of cocks and hens on the walls as he went to and from that seat of learning’. The graffiti artist got more orthodox practice within White’s establishment, drawing ‘birds and flowers and trees from the schoolroom windows’.21 He was known by now as a boy who enjoyed being kept busy with pencil and paint. While at Brentford, a friend of his uncle, a distillery foreman named John Lees, asked him to colour the engravings in a copy of The Antiquities of England and Wales, by Henry Boswell. According to Lees family tradition, the foreman paid Turner twopence for each of the seventy or so plates he thus livened up.


The huge, heavy tome whose tall pages he turned was a leather-bound compendium of separately printed parts; it incorporated ‘a general history of antient castles’ and was illustrated with simple engravings of weapons, the habits of religious orders and the elements of early Norman architecture. It pictured churches, chapels, abbeys, priories and cathedrals, ruined castles and old palaces. Among the ‘antiquities’ presented with no great sophistication were Friar Bacon’s Study at Oxford, Dover Castle, Rochester Castle, Bolton Castle in Yorkshire, Carisbrooke Castle on the Isle of Wight, Stonehenge, St Michael’s Mount, Holy Island and Caernarvon Castle. Nearer to home were St Paul’s Cathedral, Lambeth Palace and Syon House, the Duke of Northumberland’s mansion, just up the Thames from Brentford. Young William Turner washed in the skies with blue, the lawns and grassy slopes with green. He painted the walls of castles and churches a sandy yellow and the flags flying from towers bright red and blue. The figures of people strolling on the swards or rowing in boats were picked out: ladies’ dresses in pink or red, men’s coats in blue (or, for a change, vice versa). He carefully filled out in flat colours the leaves and branches of trees.


It was rainy-day work but it made a dent. Here, attentively studied and dramatized with colour, were all the elements and indeed the subjects, in very straightforward form, of what he was going to do in a few years’ time. Here is a crude but memorable engraving of the bizarre rock formations inside Fingal’s Cave, on the Scottish island of Staffa, and the exclamatory text: ‘Compared to this, what are the cathedrals or palaces built by man!’22


The grind at John White’s school can be imagined with some help from Captain Marryat’s young hero, Jacob Faithful, who attended a charity school in Brentford. Jacob was an unlettered orphan of Thames waterfolk, planted abruptly at the school. Despite the bullying that new boys attract and the beatings that those who seem stupid or recalcitrant are subject to, he succeeded in acquiring from the usher, the headteacher’s assistant, the rudiments of written language and then, from the dominie, a good deal of basic learning: the Greek gods, the ancient heroes; stories from the Bible and Shakespeare; the kings and queens of England. It was the right age for impressions to be made on a boy, and many of these tales and legends were, like Boswell’s castles and cathedrals, fixed in Turner’s mind. Here he would have heard of Ulysses and the Cyclops, Dido and Aeneas. Here, like Jacob Faithful, he ‘was doomed to receive an education … in reading, writing, and ciphering’.23


However, in William Turner’s case, perhaps because of his late start, perhaps because he lagged in some areas and was hyperactive in others, the effects of this instruction were not altogether successful. In syntax, in spelling, ‘must try harder’. Sometimes memories of his city life may have crowded out present moments when he should have been memorizing a times-table or declensions of a Latin verb. There were overwhelming feelings which could not be framed in words, written or spoken, but which prompted drawings. Many of his sketches ‘were taken by stealth … His school-fellows, sympathising with his taste, often did his sums for him while he pursued the bent of his compelling genius.’24 Some of his Brentford schoolmates, less sympathetic, may have laughed at the city boy for ‘talking funny’. In some verse jotted in a guidebook which he also used as a sketchbook in 1811, Turner – then aged thirty-six – seemed to be remembering this time with a gawkiness he could not throw off:




Close to the millrace stands the school,


To urchin dreadful, on the dunce’s stool


Behold him placed behind the chair


In doleful guise twisting his yellow hair


While the grey matron tells him not to look


At passers by thro’ doorway, but his book.25





Brentford had features that may have made up for the trials of education. The village was on the river opposite Kew, with several islands called eyots which – muddy-sided and freighted with willows – like huge moored barges briefly divided the waters of the Thames. It was a historic spot, as Uncle Joseph or Mr White must have pointed out: at the ford here, of Brentford, where the twisting River Brent joined the Thames, British tribesmen under Cassivellaunus had opposed Julius Caesar’s legionaries as they marched north. Hereafter, the river was to figure powerfully in Turner’s imagination, and was to well up constantly in the poetry he attempted to write in his thirties and early forties.


By eleven he had had a city childhood and, courtesy of Brentford, a country one. Going back to Maiden Lane he may have had a sense of London, ‘the extended town’ as he later called it, with its ‘high raised smoke’, reaching out to envelop the surrounding farms, fields and commons.26 London at this point stretched from Tyburn Lane in the west, at the edge of Hyde Park, to Wapping by the river on the east. The streets and squares were spreading northwards above Oxford Street and Holborn to Marylebone, Bloomsbury and Sadler’s Wells. Islington, where many of the Marshalls lived, was still a distinct village but would not be so for long. Westminster was expanding to the south-west through Tothill Fields. South of the river, the Borough was growing towards Newington and along the Kent Road to Hatcham and Deptford. Yet Turner came back and felt at home again among the great buildings and the life that pulsed under the canopy of smoke.


It might have been good to stay at home for a while but he was soon sent off again – and once more the reasons are obscure. This time he went east, downriver. Margate was his destination, where his mother had another relative, this one a fishmonger.27 That it was his mother’s rather than his father’s family that seemed most concerned to look after him perhaps suggests that her mental health was a large factor in these evacuations from Maiden Lane.


Margate was known for its bracing air, and people were beginning to go there for sea-bathing. You could reach the resort by land or sea, but the latter was the popular way. From the Tower of London you took a hoy, a bluff-bowed sloop-rigged vessel that – weather permitting – made the trip in twelve hours. It was an exciting voyage for the first-time passenger, down the winding river past the oyster boats unloading at Billingsgate, past the ship-building yards at Deptford and the palatial seamen’s hospital at Greenwich, past the skeletons of criminals or pirates hanging in chains at Blackwall Point, past the old fort at Tilbury and then along the edge of the Blythe Sands, as the river opened up to the sea. Then along the north Kent shore – Sheerness, Sheppey – bouncing in the chop, spray flying back over the tilted deck, seasick passengers crammed in the cabin. But Turner apparently took to it, with sea-legs from the start. Margate came into view, a collection of houses set back along the beach and around the little harbour, formed by an L-shaped stone jetty or pier. Here the hoy landed amid great bustle: hotel waiters and porters touted for custom; small urchins offered to carry the bags.


In Margate, Turner – eleven going on twelve – went to Mr Coleman’s school. Thomas Coleman, a native of this Thanet part of Kent, had lived for a time in London and been converted to Methodism by John Wesley’s preaching. In Margate, Coleman established a chapel and small school and preached in the streets; he was regarded as a man ‘of great boldness and great fluency of speech’, and antagonized many of Margate’s residents. Nevertheless, he made many converts to the Wesleyan brand of evangelical Christianity; his chapel was well attended, as was the schoolroom in Love Lane.28 The effect of Mr Coleman’s ‘fluency’ and religious ardour on young Turner is indeterminable, but the boy’s knowledge of the Bible was certainly improved. Whatever Turner’s later beliefs, there is no doubt that in many respects he was a non-conformist of a taciturn kind, and the teaching of the bold dissenter may well have helped fix his burgeoning sympathies for the unorthodox.


The journey to, and the stay in, Margate also made him like the sea. Standing on the harbour jetty or playing on the north-facing beach, building sand-castles, breathing salt air, he watched the tide run in and out; he saw the sunlight striking through loose cloud the sails of ships that were making along the Thanet coast or fetching out for Ostend and Calais. He watched the waves break on the sand and the fishermen launching and hauling out their boats. And he drew. One of his first original works that survives is a drawing of a street in Margate, a downhill prospect over roofs to the masts of ships and the sea beyond. The complicated perspective of the descending street, with house fronts, rooftops and an empty cart beside a fence, is handled with remarkable skill; only the sash windows of the right-hand houses seem a bit awry, but maybe they were so in the actual houses. By the time he returned to Covent Garden again, Turner was a child not only of the city and the rural Thames but of the seaside.


The boy brought back a healthier complexion for his reimmersion in the full tide of human existence that Dr Johnson believed to be concentrated at Charing Cross. He also brought his folder of drawings to show his parents. His father had intended him to follow in the barbering trade, and William Turner senior must be congratulated for not saying, as he looked through the folder, ‘What a waste of time, young fellow! You’ll be better off helping me.’ On the contrary, William Turner gazed at his son’s work with pride and hung the drawings in the shop window and doorway, ‘ticketed at prices varying from one shilling to three’.29 Long afterwards, a few such drawings – signed ‘W. Turner’ – were cherished by customers whose perspicacity had been keen at the time, even if blended with goodwill. The hairdresser now had an answer for the common question, ‘What’s William going to be?’ He told such clients as Humphrey Tomkison and the Academician Thomas Stothard, ‘William is going to be a painter.’30
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‘A Sweet Temper’: J. M. W. Turner as seen by his fellow-student Charles Turner, c. 1795

























2: Up and Coming





In fact, William Turner, aged twelve, seemed more inclined to become an architect, as he turned out sketch after sketch of churches, abbeys, country houses and city streets. The two earliest drawings that he signed, though copied from prints, are The North-West View of Friar Bacon’s Study and Folly-Bridge, Oxford, after an engraving in the Oxford Almanack of 1780, and a View of Nuneham Courtenay from the Thames; both are inscribed ‘W. Turner, 1782’.1 Much later, Clara Wheeler, the daughter of his good friend William Frederick Wells, said that Turner had often declared that ‘if he could begin life again, he would rather be an architect than a painter’.2


The dormer windows and tiled roofs that he could see from his small bedroom in Maiden Lane, and the sky above, gave him subjects and new ways of making pocket money. In addition to his barber-shop sales, he began to earn small sums by adding backgrounds to the designs of architects, washing in ‘rolls of white clouds and blue wastes of summer sky’.3 He was hand-colouring prints for the engraver John Raphael Smith in nearby King Street, putting to work the simple techniques he had learnt while doing Mr Lees’ job in Brentford. Many of Smith’s mezzotints were of portraits of belles painted by Reynolds, Gainsborough and Romney – a different challenge for the colourist. In any event, if most of the suggestions we have are true, for the next few years young Turner was rarely without a pencil, pen or brush in his hand. Most of his part-time jobs made use of his sympathy for buildings and his skill in drawing them.


In the roll of architects who figure in the by no means substantially documented history of Turner’s apprenticeship are found the names of Bonomi, Porden, Dobson, Repton and Hardwick. His possible association with Joseph Bonomi comes a little later – Bonomi, an Italian who had been working in England since 1767, is alluded to as a fashionable architect in Jane Austen’s Sense and Sensibility. One account has Turner actually articled to an architect for a fee of £200 put up by William Turner senior; but the architect after a short trial decided that the youth’s talents lay elsewhere and returned the boy and the money. In a similar story, a barber-shop customer left a bequest of £100 to the hairdresser, and Humphrey Tomkison made the enterprising suggestion that the sum be used to article the lad to the topographical illustrator Thomas Malton. The result (according to Thornbury) was that Malton ‘in sheer desperation’ took ‘his unpromising pupil’ back to Maiden Lane and told the barber, ‘It is no use. The boy will never do anything … Better make him a tinker, sir, or a cobbler, than a perspective artist!’4 One gets the feeling that there are elements of truth in these stories, though the names attached to them could be shifted around without harm.


William Porden may provide firmer ground. The son of a Hull labourer, he studied with James Wyatt and went on to acquire a reputation as a neo-Gothic architect, though he failed to be elected as an associate of the Royal Academy in 1806. He designed several buildings for the Prince of Wales in Brighton: the stables at the Pavilion, the Prince’s pleasure palace, and a house on the Steyne for Mrs Fitzherbert, the Prince’s mistress. Porden is said to have nobly offered to take young Turner as an apprentice without any premium being paid. Thornbury, apparently unaware of Porden’s fondness for the Gothic, says that for him Turner ‘swept in gravel walks winding up to … Grecian porches, floated blue skies over his composite pediments, and pencilled in grass-tufts and patches of dock as the foregrounds to his Corinthian mansions’.5 Alaric Watts writes that, on leaving this employer, Turner ‘furnished Mr Porden with a liberal stock of skies for future use’.6


The notion that Turner found the lowest rung of the architectural ladder uncomfortable is given substance by the tale that, when colouring the perspective drawing of a mansion for a ‘Mr. Dobson’, the boy did the windowpanes in a way that showed the reflected light from the sky contrasting with the dark of the room within. Mr D objected to this novelty: the panes should be a plain dark grey, the glazing bars white; this was the recognized practice. ‘It will spoil my drawing,’ said the young artist. ‘Rather that than my work,’ answered the architect. Turner obediently finished the colouring in the way he was commanded but then ‘left his employer altogether’.7


Turner’s association with Thomas Hardwick has a definite base and appears to have been helpful to both parties. Hardwick’s father – also a Thomas – was a builder and architect in Brentford; once again, Uncle Joseph and family may have provided the connection. Thomas Hardwick junior had been a pupil of Sir William Chambers, whose new Somerset House was going up at the east end of the Strand, and had studied at the Royal Academy Schools. He worked for several years with the young John Soane in Rome, and according to James Wyatt was ‘a regular bred classical architect’.8 Hardwick’s classicism was cool and direct. Despite the building downturn that now began with the French Revolution and continued through the ensuing wars, Hardwick seems to have had steady surveying work and to have been kept busy designing public buildings, especially churches and jails. From 1787 to 1790, he was in charge of rebuilding St Mary the Virgin Church in Wanstead, north-east of London, and Turner did watercolours of the edifice before and after the changes. Hardwick also superintended the remodelling of St Paul’s, Covent Garden, after the disastrous fire that engulfed it in 1795; he recased it in Portland stone, while adhering closely to Inigo Jones’s original design. He drew up improvements for the Duke of Northumberland’s Syon House, and Turner may have helped with the plans. Turner evidently left Hardwick’s office on good terms, for Hardwick later bought some of his work, and his son Philip, also an architect and businessman, remained closely connected with Turner to the end of the artist’s life.


The bleak outlook for aspiring architects at this time may have been one factor that dissuaded young Turner from carrying on in the profession. Perhaps, too, he eventually found the job uncongenial in terms of the inspiration he got from it. In his meticulous early drawings and watercolours, architecture was the nub of things.9 His eye was taken not only by grand buildings but by humble, whether farm cottages or inns like the Swan, at Lambeth, which intruded its more homespun form in front of the Archbishop’s Palace, the purported subject of his first watercolour to be shown at the RA in 1790. And architecture remained an absorbing interest with him. It was a specific category to which he devoted many of the works for his great engraving project that began in 1807, the Liber Studiorum. In later years he designed several buildings: a neo-classical gatehouse for a friend; a country villa and a townhouse-cum-gallery for himself. He owned and read a number of books to do with the profession, Sir Henry Wotton’s 1624 Elements of Architecture being one. And the knowledge of perspective acquired in drawing buildings was to be put to further instructional use. Certainly the love of buildings never left him. C. R. Cockerell, architect and archaeologist, encountered Turner in 1825, when the artist was fifty, and remained ‘more than two hours with him talking of Vanbrugh, Hawksmoor & others, he as usual standing with his hat on’.10


As well as working for architects, Turner was associated with at least one architectural illustrator. Before he was fifteen, he had gone to evening classes at the studio of Thomas Malton, a scene-painter at Covent Garden Theatre and draughtsman of elegant topographical views. Malton had a wooden leg, following a childhood accident; he too had been a student at the Royal Academy Schools and may have told his pupil enticing tales of life on the Somerset House lower deck. Thornbury’s account of Malton saying that the boy was ‘no use’11 is evidently false. Malton’s influence is to be seen in early Turner works, such as the watercolour of the south front of Radley Hall, elaborated from rough drawings he made on a trip to Oxford in 1789. Malton’s own work of that year is nicely illustrated in a drawing of St Dunstan’s in the West, Fleet Street. In a lecture some twenty years later the pupil gave credit to Malton for his help: ‘His mode of instruction was divested as much as possible of prolixity … Whatever he saw in nature [was] incontravertible.’12 And further homage was heard ‘in after life’ when Turner described Thomas Malton as ‘my real master’.13


Whether he jumped or was pushed out of the architectural profession, Turner had mentors who had definite ideas about where the fourteen-year-old should be spending some hours of his day. Thomas Hardwick may have proposed that he attend the Royal Academy Schools. Thomas Malton may have fired the same ambition. And a barber-shop customer then facilitated the process. One client of Turner senior was a clergyman from Foots Cray in Kent, the Reverend Robert Nixon, who had seen the drawings hanging in the shop while his whiskers were being lathered or his wig dressed. Nixon introduced the youth to John Francis Rigaud, a forty-seven-year-old portraitist and member of the Royal Academy. Rigaud made the necessary moves to recommend Turner as a probationary student at the Academy Schools.


The Turners at this point, 1789, were at 26 Maiden Lane and remained there for the next ten years, until the end of the decade. Although ‘William Turner’, presumably senior, does not appear by name in the rate books until Lady Day 1795, he stays in the books thereafter until 1800–1, second in the list for the north side of the Lane, a property – valued at £30 – next to Hand Court; this was a T-shaped alley running back from the street. The doorway to the hairdressing shop and house was set back on the left under an arch which gave entrance to the Court. That the Turner family was there before the barber actually became responsible for the Poor Rates is indicated by the ‘place of abode’ given for young Turner in a 1790 Royal Academy catalogue – ‘Maiden-lane’ – and the even more specific ‘No. 26 Maiden-lane’ in a catalogue for 1791.’14 Thornbury claimed to have visited Hand Court before these Maiden Lane buildings were demolished around 1860 and he described it as ‘a sort of horizontal tunnel, with a low archway and a prison-like iron gate’.15 Turner’s room, where he painted and slept, was at the top of the house, looking out over the Lane at the houses opposite, in one of which he had been born.





It was a five-minute walk down Southampton Street and along the busy Strand to the large greystone pile of Somerset House, where the Royal Academy had its quarters. The Academy itself was just over twenty years old – an institution, approved by the King, that had finally met the claims of British painters and sculptors for status and royal patronage. From its beginning in December 1768, the Academy had declared the free training of artists to be one of its duties, meaning to replace the various ‘academies’ for drawing and painting from life that came and went in London; one of the most recent of these was William Hogarth’s, in Peter Court off St Martin’s Lane. From 1771 the Royal Academy Schools had been housed in a portion of old Somerset House, the palace designed by Inigo Jones, along with the Academy’s Council Room and Library, though exhibitions had to be held elsewhere. But after the opening of the Chambers-designed buildings in 1780, all the workings of the Academy took place in the new Strand block of Somerset House.


To be admitted to the Schools, young Turner had to make a drawing of an antique plaster-cast and submit it to the Keeper, Agostino Carlini. Carlini, approving it, passed it on to the Academy Council, which could give or withhold admission. The decisive Council meeting was chaired by the Academy President, the distinguished portrait painter Sir Joshua Reynolds. The Academy’s admission register for 11 December 1789 listed six successful candidates in alphabetical order: Dixon, Willm, age fifteen; Gyfford, Edw., age seventeen; Rosetti, Jno Baptista, age twenty-five; Sherridan, Jno, age twenty-five; Turner, Willm, age fifteen; and Wingrave, Fran. Chas., age fourteen. Turner was the Royal Academy’s 544th student. In pencil, after the ‘Willm.’, someone in the office had added to the register ‘Jos. Mallord’. If his 23 April 1775 birth-date was correct, he was in fact still fourteen.


Sir Joshua had declared that the Academy Schools must have ‘an atmosphere of floating knowledge’ and ‘an implicit obedience to the Rules of Art’. Furthermore, the President said, ‘every opportunity should be taken to discountenance that false and vulgar opinion, that rules are the fetters of genius. They are fetters only to men of no genius.’16 Among the rules that young William Turner had to subscribe to were those ‘for preserving order and decorum’ in the Schools. If he defaced a ‘Plaister [plaster] Cast, Model, or Book’, he would be expelled. He was to go on drawing ‘after the Plaister’ until judged fit to draw ‘after the living models’. The Plaister Academy was open all day, except on Sundays and holidays and during vacations. The School of Living Models – also called the Life School, Life Class or Life Academy – functioned in the evenings, in summer after 4 p.m., in winter after 6 p.m. There were two terms, in summer from 26 May to 31 August, in winter from 29 September (which was Michaelmas) until 9 April. About twenty-five students were admitted each year and were permitted six years of study. The admission policy was egalitarian: talent rather than family background counted for most. (John Soane’s father was a bricklayer.)


Although the regulations decreed that new students spend at least a term drawing from the plaster-casts before moving on to live models, Turner spent nearly two and a half years doing chalk and stump studies of the Apollo and the Antinous of the Belvedere, the Venus de Medici, the Diskobolus and the Dying Gaul, before being admitted to the Life Class in June 1792. Did he need to work harder at the antique, or was he thought to be too young to look at live flesh? The casts themselves were somewhat battered. When the Prince Regent twenty years later decided to give twenty-six better casts from the Vatican marbles to the Academy rather than to the British Museum, the editor of the Annals of Fine Arts lamented that ‘such fine casts … should be destined to the smoky, dingy rooms of the Royal Academy, liable to the carelessness of housekeepers, porters, and idle boys’.17


In the Life Academy, which Turner attended from June 1792 to October 1799, at first regularly, later on and off, two models at a time were ‘set’ by the Visitor in poses adopted from Old Master paintings, and continued for two hours, measured by an hour-glass, with several rest periods. Naked female models were introduced in the early 1770s, but were – as the painter and Academician James Northcote remarked – ‘much disapproved of by some good folks’.18 No students under the age of twenty, unless they were married, were permitted to draw female models. What seems to be Turner’s first drawing of a nude woman appears in a sketchbook of 1796–7: she is seated with legs crossed and hair in a turban; the drawing is nicely coloured, the anatomy well-rendered.19 One highly regarded male model was a serving soldier, Sam Strowger, who was afterwards taken on as an Academy porter. Students drew lots for their places, to give all an opportunity of the best drawing positions, though in winter a spot near the coal stove was most coveted by those trying to draw with chilblained fingers. While the models posed, the students were admonished to ‘remain quiet in their places’.


All these rules may have struck the new boy – no idler – as forbidding, but in reality the fetters were less confining. The sculptor Joseph Wilton, who succeeded Carlini as Keeper in 1790 and remained in the post until 1803, was elderly and lacked a firm grip. Conditions in the Schools were crowded and standards low. Joseph Farington, the governessy Academician who kept a diary through these years, noted on several occasions what he considered to be the deplorable activities of the students, drinking, loitering and behaving badly: for instance, throwing at one another the pieces of bread they were supposed to use for rubbing out mistakes.’20 Farington seems to have forgotten that boys will be boys.


Apart from those who signed on with him, Turner’s Schoolmates in the early 1790s included Martin Archer Shee, George Chinnery, Joshua Cristall and Robert Ker Porter, who was admitted at the tender age of thirteen. Bob Porter had a reputation for cheekiness; on one occasion he embellished his drawing of the antique Gladiator with a sword and helmet the cast didn’t have, knowing that ‘Squire’ Wilton would be aggravated by this. Porter went on to paint a vast 2800-square-foot Battle of Agincourt, shown at the Lyceum in 1805, and thereafter sailed to Russia where he married a princess. Another contemporary was Henry Aston Barker, son and assistant of Robert Barker who in 1789 created the panoramic display in the Haymarket of the Grand Fleet anchored in Spithead, that Turner may have gone to see. Queen Charlotte, visiting the spectacle, said it was so real it made her feel seasick. One anonymous Academy student of the time later recalled:




With the smoke from the candles and the lamps, and the dust from the chalk, the dresses of our respected instructors used seldom to exhibit any marks of splendour after their attendance in the schools. Mr Wilton, for example, was a man of very great personal neatness, frills and ruffles forming a prominent feature of his costume. Soon, however, the ardour of the artist would overcome the exactness of the beau, and if by chance a student made an error in his drawing by too powerful an outline or too marked a development of muscular action, Mr Wilton would gently come up to the draughtsman’s side, and collecting his delicately white ruffles between the tips of his fingers and the palm of his hand, begin to rub over the offending parts, smudging the white with the black chalk, saying, ‘I do not see those lines in the figure before you.’21





James Barry, the Irishman who was Professor of Painting and who lived in a dilapidated old house in Castle Street, near Oxford Street market, had none of Wilton’s sartorial standards. He was thought uncouth and sardonic, but was popular with the students, to whom he was invariably helpful; yet he got on badly with his fellow Academicians, who took away his membership of the Academy in 1799. (He had publicly criticized Reynolds, and in his lectures violated the rule that no allusion be made to works of contemporaries.) Turner probably attended Barry’s lectures, in one of which Barry made a ‘long parallel between Poetry and Painting’.22


Turner is said also to have been on hand on 10 December 1790, the twenty-second anniversary of the Academy’s foundation, when the President gave the last of his series of Discourses. The audience in the Exhibition Room – including Edmund Burke and James Boswell – was several hundred strong and, according to Dr Charles Burney who was there with his daughter Fanny, ‘very turbulent’, particularly the ‘young students … who seemed unable to hear and diverted themselves’. Turner, presumably attentive, would have heard Sir Joshua in his marked Devon accent recommend to students ‘a rational method of study’, with not too much indulgence for ‘peculiarity’, and citing Michelangelo as an example of the ‘mechanick excellence’ needed before painting could become boldly poetic. Reynolds praised ‘indefatigable diligence’ as the basis for inspiration.23 But while the President spoke, ignoring the less than diligent students, there was a ‘violent and unaccountable crack’, which suggested to Dr Burney that one of the main beams supporting the floor of the Exhibition Room was about to give way. Sir Joshua ignored this, and a second crack which shortly followed. After his address ended, safely, Fanny Burney met James Barry on the stairs and was told by him that the ‘danger had been very real, and our escape fortunate’. And she added, ‘We are universally abused by our friends for our foolhardy complaisance to Sir Joshua in not making the best of our way out at the first warning.’24 Sir Joshua, asked what he had thought when he heard the cracks, replied grandly, ‘I was thinking that, if we had all perished, the art in England would have been thrown back five hundred years.’25


What effect did his Academy training have on the adolescent Turner? It is hard to imagine him openly mocking his teachers or doing anything other than what was asked of him. There are hints, rather, of a head-down dutifulness, within which his own as yet barely suspected fires were banked. He sketched the antique figures; he drew the posed models; and he attended some of the lectures, and fitted in his many part-time jobs. Along the way, he made notes of useful technical tips. On the back of one black and white chalk drawing done in the Schools he wrote:




[image: ]





Turpentine Varnish and Lamp Black26         


The Academy provided a different discipline from his work copying topographical illustrations or washing-in architectural backgrounds. John Ruskin, who became Turner’s most passionate advocate half a century after this, thought the effect of the Schools had been dire:




Turner, having suffered under the instruction of the Royal Academy, had to pass nearly thirty years of his life in recovering from the consequences … The one thing which the Academy ought to have taught him (namely, the simple and safe use of oil colour), it never taught him; but it carefully repressed his perceptions of truth, his capacities of invention, and his tendencies of choice. For him it was impossible to do right but in a spirit of defiance; and the first condition of his progress in learning was the power to forget.27





But other experts have stressed the Academy’s positive effects. It ‘taught him all it knew’, said Cosmo Monkhouse.28 Philip Hamerton thought that, even for one who was a budding landscape artist, the advantage of academic figure study was that ‘it thoroughly educates the eye to the perception of line, projection, and colour. It does not educate the special faculty of the landscape painter, which is a peculiar kind of memory, but it prepares him for his future work by a steady training in the elementary business of art.’ For that matter, ‘a figure, placed in a certain light, is as much an object under an effect as a near mountain in clear weather; it is, therefore, an initiation in the laws of effect as well as in those of form and colour’.29 The Academy gave him other things, too. Frequent association with young painters – camaraderie – was good for a youth with somewhat solitary inclinations. Competition with them spurred him on. And from the start the Academy gave him recognition: his Lambeth Palace watercolour, an exercise in Malton’s manner but immensely skilful for a fifteen-year-old, was hung on the walls of Somerset House for the Academy exhibition of 1790.


One other indoor element of Turner’s education as an artist came from visits to other painters. He is said to have sat in occasionally at Sir Joshua’s ‘octagonal, snuff-strewn’ studio in Leicester Fields, watching the master create his highly polished portraits.30 C. R. Leslie, who was to become an Academician and a friend of Turner’s, wrote that Sir Joshua ‘kindly allowed young artists to call on him early in the morning before he had himself commenced painting. He criticised their works … and he most readily lent them his finest works to copy. Turner … told me that he copied many of his pictures when he was a student.’31 Turner may also have studied briefly with a far less successful portraitist named Mauritius Lowe, the natural son of an Irish peer, who recognized Turner’s talent. In 1781 Fanny Burney called Lowe ‘a certain poor wretch of a villainous painter, who is in some measure under Dr Johnson’s protection’. Lowe’s studio was off-putting, at least to potential clients. A Mr Crutchley, bullied by Johnson into going there for a sitting, was ‘so horrified by the dirt and squalor that he thrust the price of the portrait into the artist’s hands and ran away’.32 Lowe’s widow and daughters later applied to the Royal Academy for charitable help, and Ruskin later still organized an annuity for the daughters, partly on the strength of Lowe’s connection with Turner.


Young Turner’s ‘steady training’ by now involved him in trips into the countryside. It was a time when almost every artist was – not just in his journeyman years – a taker of journeys. It seemed as if every meadow, hillside, abbey lawn and castle courtyard in Britain sooner or later had an itinerant artist seated in it, busily sketching in pursuit of picturesque beauty. Turner did not mean to be left out. Those two copy-drawings he made in 1787 of Friar Bacon’s Study and Nuneham Courtenay House foretell his way westward. Two years later, aged fourteen, he visited his uncle Joseph Marshall at the house he had retired to at Sunningwell, near Oxford, and sketched several views in the locality: Sunningwell Church; Radley Hall, near Abingdon; and Nuneham Harcourt. His sketchbook labelled ‘Oxford’33 was a home-made affair of twenty-six pages stitched within a marbled paper cover. He filled it for the most part with light pencil sketches that showed an eye not only for perspective and architecture but for natural detail. He drew the tall chimneys of a big house and rendered with clever squiggles the leaves of a tree. He sketched a herd of cows, a dog pointing, a stable lad holding the reins of a stiff, merry-go-round sort of horse, and a boat under sail on the river. At least one Oxford sketch furnished material for a watercolour when he returned home.34


In 1791 he got further west, to Bristol and Bath. While still in his teens he went several times to Wales, the West Midlands and the Isle of Wight, as well as to nearer-at-hand Kent and Surrey. The habit of a summer or early-autumn sketching tour was set, and stayed with him. By stagecoach, on hired or borrowed horses, but often on foot, he travelled considerable distances. The writer Lovell Reeve, his contemporary, later wrote, ‘He would walk through portions of England, twenty to twenty-five miles a day, with his little modicum of baggage at the end of a stick, sketching rapidly on his way all striking pieces of composition, and marking effects with a power that daguerrotyped them in his mind. There were few moving phenomena in clouds and shadows that he did not fix indelibly in his memory, though he might not call them into requisition for years afterwards.’35 His baggage usually contained a book or two – early on, perhaps a volume by that apostle of the picturesque, the Reverend William Gilpin. In 1792–3 he seems to have carried a copy of Don Quixote, for in two drawings the Spanish knight and his faithful Sancho Panza appear in their ‘enchanted boat’ in the unlikely setting of a Welsh millstream. Thornbury tells us that on one early tour on foot to Oxford, Turner had ‘the company of a poor artist named Cook, who afterwards turned stonemason. Cook’s feet got sore, and I believe he was soon left behind by the indefatigable Turner. [When Thornbury says ‘I believe’, the reader may suspect some invention.] As for sleeping, the thrifty lad, careful never to affect prematurely the style of the fine gentleman, rested in any humble village public-house whereat he could obtain shelter.’36


Sometimes the shelter was free. In 1791 he stayed for several weeks with friends of his father’s, the Narraways, in Broadmead, Bristol. John Narraway was a well-to-do dealer in animal hides and a maker of glue from animal bones. While there, Turner clambered up the steep banks of the Avon gorge. He drew the distant Welsh coast and the ruins of a chapel on an island in the Severn. One high, bird’s-eye-view drawing, with a few preliminary washes of yellow and blue, shows the topsails of an otherwise unseen boat running downriver, sails lifting above the craggy Avon banks; the power of selection, of deciding what is not shown, is already impressive. Because of his mountain-goat-like pursuits, the Narraways nicknamed their young guest ‘the prince of rocks’. John Narraway also noted, on the frame of a watercolour of a Bristol church that Turner gave him, ‘NB he has crooked legs.’37 Turner sketched some members of the family and at their request grudgingly portrayed himself, from the waist up. A miniature which Ruskin later owned is said to be the self-portrait done by the sixteen-year-old artist, though the pop-eyed, long-haired stripling in a jacket much too small for him looks not just unwilling but younger than sixteen. Turner defensively told the Narraways, ‘It’s no use taking such a little figure as mine. It will do my drawings an injury. People will say such a little fellow as this can never draw.’38


Turner’s self-consciousness about his fairly small size was obviously matched by his fear of damage to his reputation as an up-and-coming artist. Ruskin’s informant was Ann Dart, a niece of John Narraway. When she wrote to Ruskin in 1860 – nearly seventy years later – her memory may not have been certain about dates, but she retained (and had perhaps rehearsed on and off through the intervening years) a definite impression of a youth for whom his art was everything. Indeed, her account of conversations about the self-portrait may have been based on Narraway family gossip, since she herself seems to have first met Turner on a later visit he made to Bristol, en route to Wales, in 1798. But one way or other Miss Dart concluded that Turner was




not like young people in general, he was singular and very silent, seemed exclusively devoted to his drawing, would not go into society, did not like ‘plays’, and though my uncle and cousins were very fond of music, he would not take part … He had no faculty for friendship and though so often entertained by my uncle he would never write him a letter, at which my uncle was very vexed.





Is it possible that old Miss Dart had never got over being ignored as a girl by the grumpy young prodigy? Yet she noted, on the plus side, that ‘he would do anything my uncle or cousins would ask him in the way of taking sketches in the neighbourhood [and] he gave us many of these drawings’. And despite being ‘very difficult to understand, he would talk so little … people … could not help but like him because he was so good-humoured’. On the debit side once again, ‘he was very careless and slovenly in his dress … He would talk of nothing but his drawings, and of the places to which he should go for sketching. He seemed an uneducated youth, desirous of nothing but improvement in his art … Sometimes [he] would go out sketching before breakfast, and sometimes before and after dinner … He was not particular about the time of returning to his meals.’39


This unfriendly yet good-humoured, hard-to-understand but singular, slovenly and at the same time ambitious youth most often came back to Maiden Lane with crammed sketchbooks to work on during the winter. Some sketches were studies for work he had been commissioned to do for Walker’s Copper-plate Magazine and Harrison’s Pocket Magazine, which published engravings (based on drawings) that helped satisfy a popular demand for picturesque topographical views. The cathedrals, castles, old bridges and abbeys provided paying material; but Turner also sketched showmen’s vans, a donkey and watercart, a ploughman, a sleeping dog. In his late teens, some of the sketchbooks became more substantial: leather-bound, with brass clasps. In his notes within, his handwriting didn’t seem uneducated but rather a serviceable copperplate, with slightly ostentatious curlicues to the capital letters. In some places he made notes to help his recall: ‘The distance last with the sky a lovely tint of Blue Lake and Indian – more as it approaches.’40 In others he noted architectural details: ‘Wollaton Hall, Lord Middleton. Tuscan, Doric and Ionic with E.B.P. to each. The wings have niches.’41


On the backs of some pages he recorded the names of clients. In his ‘South Wales’ sketchbook of 1795, for instance, he proudly reminded himself of ‘Order’d Drawings’ for Dr Mathews of Hereford; Viscount Malden of Hampton Court, Herefordshire; Mr Landseer; and Sir Richard Hoare.42 He also made little lists of art materials needed: ‘wood slab, brushes, I. rubber, Bells Ink, Slab book, pencil’.43 A friend inscribed for him in the South Wales sketchbook a list of places against some of which he put an X, explaining, for future reference, ‘X places mark’d thus have good Inns.’ It seems his early frugality was now not always adhered to. But next to St David’s he pencilled the warning ‘no Inn’.44 Where did he spend the night?


In most places he was attracted to water: to mill races, to streams where men were fishing, to beaches and foreshores where boats were setting out or being hauled up. Sometimes his destinations met the contemporary picturesque requirements, as with the multicoloured cliffs at Alum Bay, on the Isle of Wight, while fulfilling his own need simply to get close to the sea. Occasionally among the useful topographic sketches something utterly personal impends, like the head of a sleeping woman, wearing a mob-cap.45 The woman has, it seems, features in common with Turner. Is this his mother, for once peaceful in sleep?46




*





Much of his education in these teenage years still came from making copies. But now his masters were not the makers of handbills and silver serving trays but Thomas Gainsborough, Philippe-Jacques de Loutherbourg, Michael Angelo Rooker and Paul Sandby, among others. Later, looking over some prints with his friend Henry Trimmer, he picked up a mezzotint of a van de Velde showing a large seventeenth-century warship running before the wind in stormy seas. Turner said to Trimmer: ‘Ah! that made me a painter.’47 But it could have been said that the close study or copying of works by a score of other artists ‘made’ him, or to be exact helped make an artist of a youth who had every instinct for and every intention of becoming a painter. The topographical artist and engraver Edward Dayes wrote in 1804, not long before his death by suicide, that Turner – whom he knew quite well by that stage – was




indebted principally to his own exertions for the abilities which he possesses as a painter, and … he may be considered as a striking instance of how much may be gained by industry, if accompanied by temperance, even without the assistance of a master. The way he acquired his professional powers was by borrowing, where he could, a drawing or a picture to copy from; or by making a sketch of any one in the [RA] Exhibition early in the morning, and finishing it at home.48





Dayes was frequently to be found at the London house of Dr Thomas Monro, a medical man who specialized in nervous and mental problems. (He was principal physician to Bethlehem Hospital for the insane and briefly had King George III as a private patient.) From 1794 to 1820 the doctor lived in the Adam Brothers’ new Adelphi development, facing the river, south of the Strand and not far from Maiden Lane. There, at 6 Adelphi Terrace, he patronized the arts. Other residents included Robert and James Adam, who had managed to rescue their costly building scheme from financial collapse by a lottery; James Graham, notable quack doctor and impresario of Emma Lyon, later Lady Hamilton; and David Garrick and his wife. Dr Monro had inherited wealth; he collected pictures and their makers, whether senior artists of the time or young men of promise like Tom Girtin. Turner’s name first appears in the doctor’s diary in 1793, though it seems Monro had already come across the youth’s work on show in the Maiden Lane barber shop and had bought several drawings at an extravagant two guineas apiece. The doctor also bought a watercolour of St Anselm’s Chapel in Canterbury Cathedral, which Turner exhibited at the Royal Academy in 1794.


Joseph Farington may have taken an interest in Turner from the start because he, Farington, had attended the life classes of the artists’ society that met at 20 and 21 Maiden Lane, just before number 21 became William and Mary Turner’s first home. At the end of 1794 Farington was told by his friend Dr Steers that ‘Dr Monro’s house is like an Academy in an evening. He has young men employed in tracing outlines made by his friends, etc. – Henderson, Hearne, etc., lend him their outlines for this purpose.’49 The evenings were generally on Fridays in winter. Later Farington heard further gossipy details of the Monro ‘school’ or ‘manufactory’:




Turner and Girtin told us they had been employed by Dr Monro 3 years to draw at his house in the evening. They went at 6 and staid till Ten. Girtin drew in outlines and Turner washed in the effects. They were chiefly employed in copying the outlines or unfinished drawings of [J. R.] Cozens etc., etc., of which copies they made finished drawings. Dr Monro allowed Turner 3s. 6d. each night. Girtin did not say what he had. Turner afterwards told me that Dr Monro had been a material friend to him, as well as to Girtin …50





The rewards of these Friday evenings included oysters for supper.


Where the two rising stars, Turner and Girtin, first met is unclear. It may have been at John Raphael Smith’s shop in King Street, where both worked at colouring prints by hand. Tom Girtin, born 18 February 1775, the son of a Southwark ropemaker, had studied under Edward Dayes. Like Turner, he toured the English countryside and the Welsh mountains, and showed genius even earlier than Turner. At the good Dr Monro’s, Girtin sometimes copied works by Malton, Turner’s ‘master’, and Turner copied works by Dayes. Increasing the chances of their evening work being confused, they were both influenced by John Robert Cozens, who had travelled to Italy with the wealthy art patron and novelist William Beckford and there painted seemingly tranquil watercolours that had a powerful impact. In 1776 Cozens showed at the RA a painting called Hannibal, in his march over the Alps, showing to his Army the Fertile Plains of Italy, a subject that stuck in Turner’s mind. Poor Cozens was one of several artists of these times who cracked up under the strains of life – Dayes and Haydon are others. Cozens lost his reason and for his last three years of life was confined under the care of Dr Monro, who also helped him out financially.


Turner and Girtin struck people as dissimilar characters, Turner ‘reticent of his knowledge, and close as to his methods of work; Girtin … of an open, careless, and sociable disposition’.51 However, Girtin complained to Cornelius Varley of Monro’s habit of making him do outlines, while Turner got to do the tinting, which did not give Girtin the same chance of learning to paint. But Girtin did paint his own watercolours as well as collaborate with Turner on joint productions. William Henry Pyne, a watercolourist, engraver and critic, later noted:




The water colour drawings of Turner and Girtin, which Dr Munro [sic] possessed, were very remarkable for a strong resemblance to each other; and it is only after a severe search and scrutiny of both, that it becomes perceptible how to mark the difference. Turner’s are distinguished by an elaborate and careful detail of every object, whether of buildings, figures, trees, or distant scenery; yet combining altogether exquisite taste, breadth, harmony, and richness. Some of Girtin’s are almost as careful, but he seems to have soon launched out into that free and bold style which carries with it an imposing effect, by its being executed with apparent ease. Turner never seems to have aimed at this seductive style of execution; all his drawings display the utmost feeling for finish and detail, but at the same time preserving the breadth and harmony of nature.52





Another, slightly younger artist, William Havell, considered the Girtin–Turner phenomenon and decided that both were




great experimentalists in rendering paper and water-colours subservient to the expression of light, which they found to be chiefly dependent on gradation … In such matters, there was no trick they were not up to. Turner used to cut out figures in paper and paste them on his drawing. If his experiments spoiled one part of a drawing, he would paste the good part upon another piece of paper, rub down the edges of it, and work on the new surface till he brought the whole into harmony. He and Girtin would also seek to create gradation by pumping water upon their drawings.53





Girtin is thought to have discovered how to ‘wipe out lights’ in a watercolour when he accidentally spilled water on a drawing and then sopped it up with a handkerchief. The places where the water had lain were left white, the colours removed. According to Pyne, Turner worked out how to do the same thing by using pieces of bread as mops.





Various people then and since have wondered what so talented a young artist as Turner got out of his three years or so of Friday evenings at Dr Monro’s art-factory. One scholarly biographer believed it ‘taught him little, for it only exercised the skill he already possessed’, though he also admitted that ‘the regular performance of these academical exercises was probably beneficial at first’, and noted a ‘marked access of confidence noticeable in his work in the latter half of 1795’, when he was twenty, that may have been due to his ‘pictorial gymnastics’ at Monro’s.54 At the time William Turner senior thought his son could have been doing more profitable work; he ‘often grumbled’ about ‘Him making drawings for Dr Monro for half a crown’.55 A drawing, perhaps done by the doctor–patron, shows the young Turner earning his half-crown, seated at a desk, long hair tied in a sort of queue or pony-tail, cravat wrapped around his rather truncated neck, his gaze concentrated down his long nose, and pen or watercolour brush poised over the paper. Two candles set on a shelf above the desk provided light as Turner worked, copying perhaps a drawing by one of the many ‘professional Picturesque tourists’ of the time.56 Dr Monro eventually owned several hundred ‘Turners’, most based on the works of other artists, some done in collaboration with Girtin. Many were of places in Switzerland, France and Italy, where neither he nor Girtin had yet gone.


Yet Turner was not forced to go to Dr Monro’s, and he must have felt he needed the apparently humdrum experience. There was something to be said for the fact that he was absorbing – by copying – works of art, rather than working from nature, in company with fellow students, and doing so for pay. The painter Walter Sickert thought that




The habit thus early forced upon him, of regarding himself as an actual producer, i.e. as a maker of articles with a definite market value, must have been beneficial to him. The existence of a class of real patrons, whose tastes had to be consulted, and whose pockets contained actually interchangeable coin of the realm, must have placed some insistence upon the social aspect of art, and have helped the boy from making the mistake which so many subsequent artists have made, of considering their work merely as a means of super-individual or universal communication.57





In later life, when colleagues expressed amazement that he had spent all that time at Dr Monro’s for mere pocket money, Turner said, ‘Well, and what could be better practice?’58


But it was not just indoor copying work at the Adelphi. ‘Dr Monro also encouraged the young artists to sketch from nature, and to bring their sketches and to work them into pictures at these evening meetings.’59 Turner and Girtin sketched at the nearby ruins of the old Savoy Palace and on the Thames, from boats. The river banks were still mostly ragged, with here and there the bones showing through of old hulks and ancient wharves. Watermen, bargemen and lightermen steered their craft under sail or sweep, up and downstream, past the anchored artists. The doctor was keen on landscape – hence the many picturesque pictures he bought, executed by his friends Hearne, Dayes and de Loutherbourg. John Linnell, a younger artist later taken up by Dr Monro, said that the doctor himself led Turner and Girtin on drawing trips in the country, probably while they were staying at his cottage at Hadley, in Surrey.


At some point in the mid- to late-1790s Turner found the parental home uncongenial enough to cause him to move out. But he did not go very far. At first it was only to separate studio space and living quarters, which he could now afford, along Hand Court.60 His mother’s mental disorder may have been a crucial factor. Moreover, the once welcome habit of barber-shop customers extending their largess to the young artist must have become irksome. Well-intentioned people would keep barging in, like the Reverend J. Douglas, a chaplain to the Prince of Wales, who lived in Rochester but stayed with a bookseller in the Strand when he came up to town on court occasions. Douglas would have his hair dressed at William Turner’s, and once found young Turner drawing in the back sitting room behind the shop. He looked at Turner’s work and invited him down to Rochester to paint – which Turner did. (A resulting watercolour of Rochester Castle, with fishermen drawing boats ashore in a gale, is now untraced.)


On another occasion, in the spring of 1798, also in Kent, he stayed with another clergyman and barber-shop customer. This was the Reverend Robert Nixon, who had introduced him to J. F. Rigaud and hence to the Royal Academy. His fellow Schools pupil Stephen Rigaud was already at the Nixons’ in Foots Cray when Turner arrived unexpectedly and was heartily welcomed at the little parsonage – though he declined to go to church. Two days later they set off on a sketching party. Rigaud later recalled:




It was a lovely day, and the scenery most delightful. After having taken many a sketch, and walked many a mile, we were glad at length to seek for a little rest and refreshment at an inn. Some chops and steaks were soon set before us, which we ate with the keen relish of appetite, and our worthy friend the Clergyman, who presided at our table, proposed we should call for some wine, to which I made no objection, but Turner, though he could take his glass very cheerfully at his friend’s house, now hung his head, saying – ‘No, I can’t stand that.’ Mr Nixon was too polite to press the matter further, as it was a pic-nic concern; so, giving me a very significant look, we did without the wine. I mention this anecdote to show how early and to what extent the love of money as a ruling passion, already displayed itself in him, and tarnished the character of this incipient genius; for I have no hesitation in saying that at that time he was the richest man of the three …61





Turner’s refusal to share a bottle with his pious companions may not have been plain churlishness. He may have been impelled by the thrift he had got used to on his own longer sketching tours; he may also have not wanted to drink while working – a constraint which, as the years went by, did not seem to matter so much. His already entrenched custom of concentrating on his art, even at the expense of friendliness, was once again demonstrated. And although his ability, whether inherited or nurtured, to put by money seems strongly attested here, one should remark, as is often the case with Turner, an opposing tendency: in a sketchbook of around 1795 is to be found a note, ‘Lent Mr Nixon 2.12.6.’62


Apart from all his hackwork for architects, magazine publishers, country-estate owners and Dr Monro, Turner was now earning by giving instruction. Although a student, he was a teacher. In fact, one of his pupils in landscape painting was Reverend Nixon, whom young Rigaud taught figure-drawing. In 1798 Nixon sent Turner an ink-and-wash sketch of some buildings, seen through an arch, and Turner wrote back apologizing for not having been able to walk out to Lewisham to see him – eight miles – because he had fallen and hurt his knee. He advised Nixon to be sparing with his colours till Turner was able to see him again. Below the sketch he added helpful instructions for his amateur pupil: ‘Get all the Shadows in Ink – except the Sky, Blue and Ink. The Arch was’ht with Bistre after the Shadow of Ink.’63 Although Nixon lived in Foots Cray, he perhaps met Turner in Lewisham, half-way between them, as Turner had another Lewisham pupil. In the mid-1790s, from about the age of nineteen to twenty-three, Turner had numerous pupils who paid him between five and ten shillings a lesson,64 quite a large sum at a time when printing compositors, for instance, earned fourpence an hour. The names of some of his pupils were jotted in his sketchbooks, such as the ‘Marford Mill’ sketchbook of 1794, where on the back of one drawing one finds ‘Major Frazer. April 6. 1 hour & Half. 8 lessons.’65 In the ‘Smaller South Wales’ sketchbook of 1795 he has written ‘Teaching’ alongside a squad of names: Mr Murwith; Mr Jones of Lewisham; Mr Davis ditto; Miss Palin; Miss Hawkins; and Mr Goold.66 Another name is that of William Blake, though this is not the great poet and illustrator but a gifted amateur who lived in Portland Place, London, and commissioned a watercolour of Norham Castle, in Northumberland, from Turner in 1797.


Thornbury in 1860 wrote of ‘old people still living who remember Turner in 1795 or 1796 … when he taught drawing … One of them describes him as “eccentric, but kind and amusing”.’67 This informant was possibly Lady Julia Gordon née Bennet, the widow of Sir John Willoughby Gordon, former Army Quartermaster General. As a young woman – a few months younger than her teacher – Julia Bennet took watercolour lessons from Turner. Two watercolours showed their joint handiwork. One, of Cowes Castle, is inscribed ‘First with Mr Turner, 1797’. Another, larger, is of Llangollen Bridge, and has written on the back ‘Julia Bennet – with Mr Turner. May 1797’. The background looks like Turner’s work, the foreground is very amateurish. Like Catherine in Northanger Abbey, Julia Bennet may have ‘confessed and lamented her want of knowledge’ as she learnt of foregrounds, distances, perspectives, lights, and shades, and ‘soon began to see beauty in everything admired’ by her teacher.


Yet he did not want to let such work dominate his life. He apparently wasn’t very talkative as a teacher; he told Farington on one occasion that his practice ‘was to make a drawing in the presence of his pupil and leave it for him [or her] to imitate’.68 Although he continued to teach throughout the next year, in November 1798 Farington reported that Turner was ‘determined not to give any more lessons in drawing’. ‘Mr Turner’ evidently didn’t need the status of teacher or the extra income. Perhaps, too, he was making such artistic advances of his own that dealing in fairly basic terms with beginners and hobbyists exasperated him. However, in the years to come he went on helping RA students as a Visitor in the Schools, and he often gave tips to colleagues on sketching trips or when preparing canvases for exhibition. Even so, he always seems to have found it easier to show rather than tell someone what to do: articulating the problem and the solution was more difficult.





One pencil drawing he did in 1798 shows the interior of Covent Garden Theatre. The view, with figures, is from the gallery, presumably while Turner attended a performance there. But his interest in theatre was not only that of a spectator and had been evident for some years. At the age of sixteen he had been recruited as an assistant to the Academician William Hodges, who was the designer and scene painter at the Pantheon, the domed assembly rooms-cum-theatre-cum-opera house in Oxford Street. Turner is missing from the RA Schools attendance registers from 22 April to 18 June 1791, and the name of William Dixon, one of his classmates, is listed as a Pantheon assistant. The signature ‘Wm. Turner’, similar to that in the RA registers, appears on Pantheon receipts of that time. At the Pantheon Turner would have helped paint the backcloths with clouds, city walls, village houses and stormy seas. He must have been particularly dismayed on the freezing cold morning of 14 January 1792 to hear that the Pantheon, overnight, had been gutted by fire. His reportorial instinct was strong – and quickly aroused by catastrophe – and he dashed up to Oxford Street to sketch the scene. The upsetting rumour was that the fire had started in the scene room, where he had worked: musical scores, instruments, costumes and scenery had been destroyed.


Despite the bitter cold, Turner drew the façade of the wrecked building and the adjacent shops, whose names he noted. Back home he squared the sketch69 to make it easier to transfer to a larger size as a watercolour, The Pantheon, the morning after the fire, which he showed at the RA exhibition in the late spring.70 The scene is done in his best Malton-derived manner, though with icicles from the frozen fire-extinguishing water hanging from the cornices, and the devastated interior visible through the windows with their broken sashes. Several firemen with their hand-pump are still emptying buckets in the foreground, while small bunches of spectators gawk and gossip. Their conversation is indicated by a few rather stilted gestures. But the morning light slants in cleverly from the upper-right back (of the stage, as it were), which allows the artist to render the front-facing undamaged windows of several neighbouring buildings in solid black, without highlights or reflections, in a manner some of his architect employers would approve.


Turner’s experience in the theatre made a lasting impression on him. It was to be demonstrated in paintings in the following decades in which he indulged his fondness for bright lights and flaring colours. Even his first exhibited oil (RA 1796), Fishermen at Sea, has a moonlit mood of melodrama about it, although the motion of the fishing boats rolling in a heavy swell off the Needles, at the western end of the Isle of Wight, is brilliantly observed. The influence of the seventeenth-century Dutch painters is to be detected in the sea, and that of the Strasbourg-born, London-resident, eighteenth-century scene painter and RA Philippe-Jacques de Loutherbourg (whom Turner may have met at Dr Monro’s) in the rather stagy moonlit clouds. One wonders if as a boy Turner went to not only the nearby Spectacle Mecanique but to de Loutherbourg’s Eidophusikon in Spring Gardens. The name means more or less ‘same-as-nature image’, and the Eidophusikon gave the viewer the impression that he was watching a sort of moving picture, displayed within a stage about six feet wide and eight deep, and depicting calm and storm, on land or sea, with accompanying sound and light effects produced with tambourines and sheets of copper, Argand lamps and stained glass. Thornbury repeats a tale that ‘Mrs Loutherbourg grew very jealous of Turner’s frequent visits to her husband [in Hammersmith], and … at last, suspecting the young painter was obtaining all her husband’s secrets from him, she shut the door in his face and roughly refused him admittance.’71 Moonlight and water also figure prominently in the oil Turner showed at the RA in 1797, as the title indicates: Moonlight – a study at Millbank.


Although his early oils suggest that Turner knew he had to prove his worth as a painter in that medium to be accepted as a potential member of the Royal Academy, through most of this period of apprenticeship his reputation was that of a rising and innovative watercolour artist. The rather flatly washed pencil outlines he did to begin with gave way to much bolder work. The boundaries of the craft were technically and even physically pushed back. He started to use coloured paper or paper stained with dark washes and to employ gouache or bodycolour, an opaque watercolour paint thickened with gum or clay. He worked out ways of preserving areas of white paper as white through his technique of blotting and ‘stopping out’, and he built up complicated structures with layers of wash, opposing warm and cool colours, defining lights and shadows with dampenings, abrasions and scrapings. He learnt idiosyncratic short-cuts for fluently conveying the bits which some artists make obviously tedious work, like leaves of trees and waves at sea. The ‘tinted drawings’72 which were – though precocious – a bit finicky in the totality of the record they made (e.g. The Cathedral Church at Lincoln, RA 1795) were supplanted by work that was altogether more free and truly assured. The ‘mappy’73 topographical illustrations are replaced by an energetic autobiographical art.


The boy was now a man. At the age of twenty-one, in the summer of 1796, he went to Brighton, perhaps to recuperate from sickness, from overwork or from family turmoil in Maiden Lane. He also went to Margate again. In both places he sketched and painted, but only thirty in the hundred pages or so of his small leather-bound Brighton sketchbook74 were used, and some of those are tentative sketches that to Finberg ‘look like the work of an invalid’.75 Others, however, in simple pencil and colour, have a thrilling sense of discovery about them: the ribs and planking of a beach-boat, seen from inside; a litter of pigs; suckling their mother; and a labouring couple, seen from behind, walking rather wearily with various burdens, a small girl in a striped dress grasping her parents’ hands. As with the pigs, there is a fond or maybe rueful observation of family solidarity. Moreover, a slightly later sketchbook,76 which he used from the autumn of 1796 into 1797, and which is known as the ‘Wilson’ sketchbook after the copies of some Richard Wilson pictures in it, is full of marvellously confident coloured drawings that make bold use of the book’s small red-brown pages; despite its tiny format, it reveals – as do some of the Brighton sketches – a more emotional, less constrained artist than we have seen before.


While there was talk in the country of a French invasion, which caused the militias to be doubled in strength, Turner seems to have been having his own strenuous ups and downs. In Margate, presumably visiting his Marshall relatives, if not his old teacher Mr Coleman, he was apparently distracted one moment and fired up the next. Even Finberg, no enthusiast for the personal, believes that ‘Something unusual must have happened [to him] in 1796.77 Thornbury concluded that 1796 was the year that Turner caught ‘the old ailment’, love.78 The girl was the sister of a former school-comrade, ‘vows of fidelity were exchanged’, but the affair was blighted by a separation: Turner left on a tour; she received no letters from her lover, possibly because they were kept from her by her parents, and she then yielded to the importunities of another more proximate suitor. Turner turned up again too late, and the disappointment – he had been jilted – soured him for life.


Although this romance as recounted by Thornbury is improbably stretched out, Turner may have failed to write promised letters to his love object and paid the price. An independent source, Robert C. Leslie, son of Turner’s friend and fellow artist C. R. Leslie, wrote later that when he was living at Deal around 1869, ‘my next-door neighbour was an old lady of the name of Cato; her maiden name was White; and she told me that she knew Turner well as a young man, also the young lady he was in love with. She spoke of him as being very delicate, and said that he often came to Margate for his health. She seemed to know little of Turner as the artist.’79 That may be the way the young artist wanted it.
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